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COMPLAINT
(Failure to Respond to QWR per Dodd Frank Amendments)
This is an action for damages brought by an individual consumer for Defendant’s violations of the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601 et seq. (“TILA”), and the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 2601 et seq. (“RESPA”). Specifically, Plaintiff seeks the remedies as provided in TILA and RESPA for Defendant’s failures to respond to requests for the identity of the creditors of Plaintiff’s three mortgage loans as required by 15 U.S.C. §1641(f) and 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e).
Jurisdiction

1. Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court pursuant to the provisions of  28 U.S.C § 1334 in that this proceeding arises in and is related to the above-captioned Chapter 13 case under Title 11 and concerns property of the debtors in that case.

2. This Court has both personal and subject matter jurisdiction to hear this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C §§ 157(b)(2), 1334.

3. This court has supplemental jurisdiction to hear all state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

4. This Court has jurisdiction to hear the claims for relief under the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 2614. 
5. This matter is a core proceeding and therefore the Bankruptcy Court has jurisdiction to enter a final order.  However, in the event this case is determined to be a non-core proceeding then and in that event the Plaintiff consents to the entry of a final order by the Bankruptcy Judge.

6. Venue lies in this District pursuant to of 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).

Parties

7. The Plaintiff, __________, is a natural person residing in Shelby, North Carolina.

8. Defendant, American Home Mortgage Servicing, Inc. is a corporation that services residential mortgage loans. Defendant is headquartered at 4600 Regent Boulevard, Suite 200, Irving, Texas 75063. Defendant was formerly a subsidiary of American Home Mortgage Investment Corporation (“AHM”) and was engaged in originating, purchasing, and selling residential mortgages before it was purchased by Wilbur Ross & Co. LLC.
Facts

9. The Chapter 13 case of the Plaintiff herein was commenced by the filing of a voluntary petition with the Clerk of this Court on July 14, 2010. On the same day the Bankruptcy Noticing Center notified Defendant of Plaintiff’s bankruptcy case.

10. The 341(a) meeting of creditors in this case was held in Shelby, North Carolina on ___________
11. On November 23, 2005 AHM made a mortgage loan to Plaintiff for the purpose of acquiring a dwelling at __________________ (the “First Property”), referred to in this Complaint as the “First Mortgage Loan”.
12. In connection with the First Mortgage Loan the Plaintiff executed a promissory note (the “First Mortgage Note”) in the original principal amount of $267,000 payable to AHM.

13. The First Mortgage Note was secured by a Deed of Trust on the First Property dated November 23, 2005 and recorded in the Register of Deeds of Cleveland County, NC, which named Alvin E. Friedman as Trustee, AHM as Lender, and Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“MERS”) as beneficiary of the Deed of Trust and as “nominee” for AHM.

14.  On January 31, 2006 AHM made a mortgage loan to Plaintiff for the purpose of acquiring a dwelling at _____________ (the “Second Property”), referred to in this Complaint as the “Second Mortgage Loan”.

15. In connection with the Second Mortgage Loan the Plaintiff executed a promissory note (the “Second Mortgage Note”) in the original principal amount of $40,800 payable to AHM.

16.  The Second Mortgage Note was secured by a Deed of Trust on the Second Property dated January 31, 2006 and recorded in the Office of the Cleveland County Register of Deeds (the “Second Deed of Trust”), which named Douglas Douglas and Connie Iampiere as Trustees, the Defendant as Lender, and MERS as beneficiary of the Deed of Trust and as “nominee” for AHM.

17. On April 7, 2006 Defendant made a mortgage loan to Plaintiff for the purpose of acquiring a dwelling at ___________ (the “Third Property”), referred to in this Complaint as the “Third Mortgage Loan”.

18. In connection with the Third Mortgage Loan the Plaintiff executed a promissory note (the Third Mortgage Note”) in the original principal amount of $101,500 payable to AHM.

19. The Third Mortgage Note was secured by a Deed of Trust on the Third Property dated April 7, 2006 and recorded in the Office of the Cleveland County Register of Deeds (the “Third Deed of Trust”), which named Douglas Douglas as Trustee, AHM as Lender, and MERS as beneficiary of the Deed of Trust and as “nominee” for AHM.
20. To the best of Plaintiff’s knowledge, information and belief, these Mortgage Loans are serviced by the Defendant.
21. Plaintiff believes and therefore alleges that the true holder and owners of the First, Second, and Third Mortgage Notes are unknown securitized trusts.

22. The First Mortgage Loan, Second Mortgage Loan, and Third Mortgage Loan are consumer credit transactions within the meaning of, and subject to, TILA.

23. The First Mortgage Loan, Second Mortgage Loan, and Third Mortgage Loan are “federally related mortgage loans” as defined in 12 U.S.C. §2602(1) and therefore subject to RESPA.
COUNT 1: Failure to provide the identity of the owner or master servicer of the First Mortgage Note as required by TILA §131(f) [15 U.S.C. §1641(f)] and failure to respond to a “qualified written request” regarding the First Mortgage Loan §6(e)(1)(B) of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (“RESPA”) [12 U.S.C. §2605(e)(1).

24.  The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 23 of this Complaint are hereby re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

25. On or about July 26, 2010 Plaintiff, through counsel, mailed a letter to Defendant requesting the name of the owner of the First Mortgage Note and clearly alerting Defendant to the fact that his request was being made pursuant to TILA §131(f). A copy of Plaintiff’s request, the original of which Plaintiff’s counsel mailed certified with return receipt requested, is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

26. Plaintiff’s July 26, 2010 letter to Defendant is a “qualified written request” as defined in §6(e)(1)(B) of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (“RESPA”) [12 U.S.C. 2605(e)(1)(B)].  Thus Plaintiff’s July 26, 2010 letter had the dual effect of invoking Plaintiff’s rights under TILA §131(f) as well Plaintiff’s rights under RESPA §6(e)(1).

27. Defendant failed to acknowledge receipt of the Qualified Written Request within 5 days as required by U.S.C. Section 2605(e)(1)(A) as amended effective July 16, 2010 by the Dodd-Frank Financial Reform Act and Reg. X Section 3500.21(e)(1).

28. On or about August 10, 2010, Defendant mailed a response which included the payment history, a copy of the Note, and a copy of the Deed of Trust but did not respond to Plaintiff’s request for the name of the owner of the First Mortgage Note as required by §6(e)(1) of RESPA [12 U.S.C. §2605(e)(1). A copy of this is attached hereto as Exhibit B.
29. On or about August 19, 2010, Plaintiff’s Counsel mailed a second letter to Defendant alerting Defendant of its noncompliance with RESPA and TILA and again requesting, within 5 days of receipt of the letter, the identification of the owner of the First Mortgage Note. A copy of this letter, the original of which Plaintiff’s counsel mailed certified, return receipt requested, is attached hereto as Exhibit C.
30. On or about September 9, 2010, Plaintiff’s counsel filed a Certificate of Service for both the Qualified Written Request and the letter sent on August 19, 2010.

31. Defendant failed to identify the owner of the First Mortgage note within 10 days of receipt of the letter as required by 12 U.S.C. 2605(k) as amended effective July 16, 2010 by the Dodd-Frank Financial Reform Act and as recently as September 13, 2010 has never provided Plaintiff with a response, thus violating both 12 U.S.C. §2605(e)(1) (RESPA) and 15 U.S.C. §1641(f) (TILA) with respect to the First Mortgage Loan.

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff having set forth his claims for relief against the Defendant respectfully prays of the Court as follows:

That the Plaintiff be granted relief provided by TILA as to the violation of TILA set forth above, including statutory damages in the amount of $4,000.00; and

That the Plaintiff be granted relief provided by RESPA as to the violation of RESPA set forth above, including statutory damages in the amount of $2,000.00; and

That the Plaintiff be granted actual damages if any be proven, reasonable attorney’s fees, and costs expended in this proceeding; and

That the Plaintiffs have such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

COUNT 2: Failure to provide the identity of the owner or master servicer

of the Second Mortgage Note as required by  TILA §131(f) [15 U.S.C. §1641(f)]

and failure to respond to a “qualified written request” regarding the Second
Mortgage Loan §6(e)(1)(B) of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act

(“RESPA”) [12 U.S.C. §2605(e)(1).
32.  The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 31 of this Complaint are hereby re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

33. On or about July 26, 2010 Plaintiff, through counsel, mailed a letter to Defendant requesting the name of the owner of the Second Mortgage Note and clearly alerting Defendant to the fact that his request was being made pursuant to TILA §131(f). A copy of Plaintiff’s request, the original of which Plaintiff’s counsel mailed certified with return receipt requested, is attached hereto as Exhibit D.

34. Plaintiff’s July 26, 2010 letter to Defendant is a “qualified written request” as defined in §6(e)(1)(B) of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (“RESPA”) [12 U.S.C. 2605(e)(1)(B)].  Thus Plaintiff’s July 26, 2010 letter had the dual effect of invoking Plaintiff’s rights under TILA §131(f) as well Plaintiff’s rights under RESPA §6(e)(1).

35. On or about August 12, 2010, Defendant mailed a response which included the payment history, a copy of the Note, and a copy of the Deed of Trust but did not respond to Plaintiff’s request for the name of the owner of the Second Mortgage Note as required by §6(e)(1) of RESPA [12 U.S.C. §2605(e)(1). A copy of this is attached hereto as Exhibit E.
36. On or about August 19, 2010, Plaintiff’s Counsel mailed a second letter to Defendant alerting Defendant of its noncompliance with RESPA and TILA and again requesting, within 5 days of receipt of the letter, the identification of the owner of the Second Mortgage Note. A copy of this letter, the original of which Plaintiff’s counsel mailed certified, return receipt requested, is attached hereto as Exhibit F.

37. On or about September 9, 2010, Plaintiff’s counsel filed a Certificate of Service for both the Qualified Written Request and the letter sent on August 19, 2010.

38. On or about September 10, 2010, the Defendant faxed over a cover letter alleging that it had responded to the Plaintiff’s Qualified Written Request. This fax included a copy of Defendant’s first response dated August 12, 2010 but still failed to respond to Plaintiff’s request for the name of the owner of the Second Mortgage Note. A copy of the cover letter is attached hereto as Exhibit G.
39. Defendant failed to identify the owner of the Second Mortgage Note within 10 days of receipt of the letter as required by 12 U.S.C. 2605(k) as amended effective July 16, 2010 by the Dodd-Frank Financial Reform Act and as recently as September 13, 2010 has never provided Plaintiff with a response, thus violating both 12 U.S.C. §2605(e)(1) (RESPA) and 15 U.S.C. §1641(f) (TILA) with respect to the Second Mortgage Loan.
WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff having set forth his claims for relief against the Defendant respectfully prays of the Court as follows:

That the Plaintiff be granted relief provided by TILA as to the violation of TILA set forth above, including statutory damages in the amount of $4,000.00; and

That the Plaintiff be granted relief provided by RESPA as to the violation of RESPA set forth above, including statutory damages in the amount of $2,000.00; and

That the Plaintiff be granted actual damages if any be proven, reasonable attorney’s fees, and costs expended in this proceeding; and

That the Plaintiff have such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

COUNT 3: Failure to provide the identity of the owner or master servicer of the Third Mortgage Note as required by TILA §131(f) [15 U.S.C. §1641(f)] and failure to respond to a “qualified written request” regarding the Third Mortgage Loan §6(e)(1)(B) of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (“RESPA”) [12 U.S.C. §2605(e)(1).

40.  The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 39 of this Complaint are hereby re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

41. On or about July 26, 2010 Plaintiff, through counsel, mailed a letter to Defendant requesting the name of the owner of the Third Mortgage Note and clearly alerting Defendant to the fact that his request was being made pursuant to TILA §131(f). A copy of Plaintiff’s request, the original of which Plaintiff’s counsel mailed certified with return receipt requested, is attached hereto as Exhibit H.

42. Plaintiff’s July 26, 2010 letter to Defendant is a “qualified written request” as defined in §6(e)(1)(B) of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (“RESPA”) [12 U.S.C. 2605(e)(1)(B)]. Thus Plaintiff’s July 26, 2010 letter had the dual effect of invoking Plaintiff’s rights under TILA §131(f) as well Plaintiff’s rights under RESPA §6(e)(1).

43. Defendant failed to acknowledge receipt of the Qualified Written Request within 5 days as required by U.S.C. Section 2605(e)(1)(A) as amended effective July 16, 2010 by the Dodd-Frank Financial Reform Act and Reg. X Section 3500.21(e)(1).

44. On or about August 9, 2010, Defendant mailed a response which included the payment history, a copy of the Note, and a copy of the Deed of Trust but did not respond to Plaintiff’s request for the name of the owner of the Third Mortgage Note as required by §6(e)(1) of RESPA [12 U.S.C. §2605(e)(1). A copy is hereto attached as Exhibit I.
45. On or about August 12, 2010, Plaintiff’s Counsel mailed a second letter to Defendant alerting Defendant of its noncompliance with RESPA and TILA and again requesting, within 5 days of receipt of the letter, the identification of the owner of the Third Mortgage Note. A copy of this letter, the original of which Plaintiff’s counsel mailed certified, return receipt requested, is attached hereto as Exhibit J.

46. On or about September 9, 2010, Plaintiff’s counsel filed a Certificate of Service for both the Qualified Written Request and the letter sent on August 19, 2010.

47. On or about September 10, 2010, the Defendant faxed over a cover letter alleging that it had responded to the Plaintiff’s Qualified Written Request. This fax included a copy of Defendant’s first response dated August 9, 2010 but still failed to respond to Plaintiff’s request for the name of the owner of the Third Mortgage Note. A copy of the cover letter is attached hereto as Exhibit K.
48. Defendant failed to identify the owner of the Third Mortgage note within 10 days of receipt of the letter as required by 12 U.S.C. 2605() as amended effective July 16, 2010 by the Dodd-Frank Financial Reform Act and as recently as September 13, 2010 has never provided Plaintiff with a response, thus violating both 12 U.S.C. §2605(e)(1) (RESPA) and 15 U.S.C. §1641(f) (TILA) with respect to the Third Mortgage Loan.
WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff having set forth his claims for relief against the Defendant respectfully prays of the Court as follows:

That the Plaintiff be granted relief provided by TILA as to the violation of TILA set forth above, including statutory damages in the amount of $4,000.00; and

That the Plaintiff be granted relief provided by RESPA as to the violation of RESPA set forth above, including statutory damages in the amount of $2,000.00; and

That the Plaintiff be granted actual damages if any be proven, reasonable attorney’s fees, and costs expended in this proceeding; and

That the Plaintiff have such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.
Dated this 

 day of 



, 2010.

O. Max Gardner III

Gardner & Gardner PLLC

Attorney for the Debtor/Plaintiff

NC State Bar #6164

P.O. Box 1000

Shelby, NC 28151-1000
(704) 487-0616 / FAX (704) 487-0619
e-mail maxgardner@maxgardner.com 
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